# FILED September 21, 2012 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

## No. 30411-6-III IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

STATE OF W	ASHINGTON	I,	
		Plaintiff/Respondent,	
vs.			
FABIAN ARE	REDONDO,		
		Defendant/Appellant.	
		Appellant's Brief	

DAVID N. GASCH WSBA No. 18270 P.O. Box 30339 Spokane, WA 99223-3005 (509) 443-9149 Attorney for Appellant

## **

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trail court erred in continuing jury selection after the courthouse had been locked.
- 2. The trial court erred in allowing evidence of other acts contrary to ER 404(b).
- 3. The trial court erred by barring any inquiry into Maurice Simon's mental state.
- 4. The evidence was insufficient to support the special verdict that the defendant committed the crime with intent to directly or indirectly cause any benefit, aggrandizement, gain, profit, or other advantage to or for a criminal street gang, its reputation, influence, or membership.
- 5. The trial court erred in finding Mr. Arredondo had the means to pay the costs of incarceration and in ordering him to pay those costs as a condition of his sentence.

#### B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Did the trial court violate Mr. Arredondo's constitutional public trial right by excluding the public from a portion of the jury selection?
- 2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in allowing evidence of other acts contrary to ER 404(b)?

- 3. Was Mr. Arredondo's Sixth Amendment right of confrontation violated when the trial court barred any inquiry into the mental state of the State's witness, Maurice Simon, during cross-examination?
- 4. Was Mr. Arredondo's right to due process under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3 and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment violated where the State failed to prove the special verdict enhancement that he committed the crime with intent to directly or indirectly cause any benefit, aggrandizement, gain, profit, or other advantage to or for a criminal street gang, its reputation, influence, or membership?
- 5. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in finding Mr. Arredondo had the means to pay the costs of incarceration and in ordering him to pay those costs as a condition of his sentence, where there was no evidence to support that finding?

## C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 12/5/09, three Sureno gang members went to a party at a house in Toppenish, Washington. Shortly after they arrived, members of the rival Norteno gang showed up at the party. Fighting words were exchanged between several people and a brief fist fight ensued. RP<sup>1</sup> 60-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "RP" refers to the six volumes that include the trail and sentencing. A supplemental transcript that includes jury selection and various motions will be cited as "Supp. RP."

67, 78-79. Fabian Arredondo is a Norteno and was at the party but was not involved in the altercation. RP 65, 80.

Most people left the party after the fight. RP 83. The three Surenos drove off together in a white SUV with a fourth person they picked up walking along the street. RP 68, 179-80. They noticed another car following them and sped up to get away but the other car, a Honda with tinted windows, continued to chase them. Someone saw a gun and yelled to duck. Shots were fired from the Honda and the SUV crashed. RP 70-73, 181-98. The driver had been shot and later died at the hospital. RP 199, 368-73.

During jury selection, the Court mentioned that since the outer doors to the courthouse are locked at 4 p.m., the Court intended to adjourn by 4 p.m. every day of the trial to avoid any potential violations of the right to a public trial. Supp. RP 167-68. Later that same day the Court stated without any preliminary analysis:

I'll make the finding that the need to conclude the jury selection process this afternoon is an extraordinary circumstance warranting us going past four o'clock and potentially conducting the—some small portion of the jury selection process in an open courtroom in a locked courthouse.

Supp. RP 240.

The jury selection was not completed until 4:17 p.m. Supp. RP 262-63. The Court then read the preliminary instructions to the jury. Supp. RP 263-67. The jury was excused and court was adjourned at 4:24 p.m. Supp. RP 268.

Arredondo moved in limine to prohibit the State under ER 404(b) from introducing evidence of a drive-by shooting that occurred 2/9/09. The Court denied the motion finding the probative value outweighed the prejudicial effect. 10/10/11<sup>2</sup> Supp. RP 22-27.

During opening statements the prosecutor stated that Mr. Arredondo drove a Mercedes-Benz and fired shots during a prior drive-by shooting incident on 2/09/09. Supp. RP 273. In the trial Officer Dunn testified that he responded to a report of a drive-by shooting on 2/9/09 in a high gang area. RP 467. The victim said the suspect vehicle "appeared to be like a Mercedes-Benz." RP 468. The officer found a .38 shell casing in the area. RP 468-69.

Corrections Officer Michael Hisey testified he and two police officers attempted to contact Arredondo at an address in Zillah over reports of possible drug trafficking at that residence. RP 478-80. A silver Mercedes-Benz was parked in the area and Arredondo had possession of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The verbatim report of proceedings for 10/10/11 appears in Vol 1 of the 6-volume trial, the 2-volume supplemental, and here in a short 2<sup>nd</sup> supplemental (9:54 a.m., 35 pages).

the keys to that car. RP 481. Officers searched the car and found a .38 shell casing. RP 482, 486. A forensic examination revealed that the casing found at the scene of the 2/9/09 drive-by shooting and the casing found in the car were fired from the same weapon. RP 523-24.

Maurice Simon, a jail snitch with numerous prior convictions, testified he was Arredondo's roommate in jail for 5-8 days. During that time Simon stated Arredondo told him he drove the Honda and Rudy Madrigal fired the shots at the SUV on 12/5/09. RP 570-78. Prior to trial Mr. Arredondo moved to permit cross examination about Simon's mental health condition contemporaneous in time when the alleged jail confession occurred. CP 20-25; RP 565-66. Before making its ruling, the trial court allowed questioning of Simon about his mental condition outside the presence of the jury. During that questioning Simon revealed a number of mental problems including PTSD, problems with comprehension, concentration and anxiety, depression, distrust of other people, hyper vigilancy, and chronic substance abuse from alcohol and methamphetamine. RP 559-64. Following this questioning, the Court barred any inquiry into Simon's mental state now or in the past, finding the probative value was negligible. RP 567.

The jury convicted Mr. Arredondo of second degree murder and three counts of first degree assault. The jury also found by special verdict that he committed the crimes with intent to directly or indirectly cause any benefit, aggrandizement, gain, profit, or other advantage to or for a criminal street gang, its reputation, influence, or membership. CP 76-88. The Court imposed an exceptional sentence of an additional 60 months on each count for this aggravating circumstance. The sentences on all counts were run consecutively. CP 90-91.

As part of the sentence, the Court found Mr. Arredondo had the means to pay the costs of incarceration and ordered him to pay those costs. CP 94, ¶ 4.D.4. This appeal followed. CP 98.

#### D. ARGUMENT

1. The trial court violated appellant's constitutional public trial right by excluding the public from a portion of jury selection.<sup>3</sup>

A person accused of crime is entitled to a public trial. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Wash. Const. art I, § 22; *State v. Bone-Club*, 128 Wn.2d 254, 257, 906 P.2d 325 (1995). This includes the entire jury selection process. *In re Personal Restraint of Orange*, 152 Wn.2d 795, 804, 100 P.3d 291 (2004). The public and press also have a First Amendment right to public

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This issue is currently pending before the Washington Supreme Court in *State v. Wise*, No. 82802-4, argued May 3, 2011.

trials. U.S. Const. Amend. I; Waller v. Georgia, 467 U.S. 39, 46, 104 S.
Ct. 2210, 81 L. Ed. 2d 31 (1984); Wash. Const. art 1, § 10; State v.
Easterling, 157 Wn.2d 167, 179, 137 P.3d 825 (2006).

The process of jury selection is important to the criminal justice system itself as well as to the parties. *Press-Enter. Co. v. Superior Court*, 464 U.S. 501, 505, 104 S. Ct. 819, 78 L. Ed. 2d 629 (1984). Therefore, the court may not close the courtroom "except under the most unusual circumstances." *Bone-Club*, 128 Wn.2d at 259. Even where only a part of the jury voir dire is improperly closed, it can violate a defendant's constitutional public trial right. *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d at 812. Violations of this right may be raised for the first time on appeal. *Bone-Club*, 128 Wn.2d at 257; *State v. Brightman*, 155 Wn.2d 506, 517, 122 P.3d 150 (2005).

To overcome the presumption of openness, the trial court must find on the record that closure is the only way to preserve a specific, more important, interest and that the closure is narrowly tailored to serve that interest. The findings must be specific enough to enable this court to determine whether closure was proper. *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d at 806; *Waller*, 467 U.S. at 45. The court must perform five steps:

- 1. The proponent of closure must make some showing of a compelling interest. If that interest is an accused's right to a fair trial, the proponent must show a likelihood of jeopardy.
- 2. Anyone present must be given an opportunity to object to the closure.
- 3. The protective method must be the least restrictive means available to protect the threatened interest.
- 4. The court must weigh the competing interests of the proponent of closure and the public.
- 5. The order must be no broader in its application or duration than necessary to serve its purpose.

Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d at 258-89; Federated Publications, Inc. v. Kurtz, 94 Wn.2d 51, 62, 615 P.2d 440 (1980). Failure to follow these steps violates the public trial clause of Wash. Const. art I, § 22. Orange, 152 Wn.2d at 812.

In *State v. Strode*, this Court reiterated the same constitutional principles it had previously set forth in *Bone-Club* and its progeny—that a trial judge's decision to allow the questioning of prospective jurors in chambers constitutes a courtroom closure and is a denial of the right to a public trial. *State v. Strode*, 167 Wn.2d 222, 217 P.3d 310, 314 (2009); accord *Presley v. Georgia*, 558 U.S. 209, 130 S.Ct. 721, 175 L.Ed.2d 675 (2010); *State v. Paumier*, 155 Wn. App. 673, 678-79, 230 P.3d 212 (2010). A courtroom may be closed to the public only when the criteria

for closure identified in *Bone-Club* are satisfied. *Strode*, 167 Wn.2d 222, 217 P.3d at 312.

Like *Strode*, the trial court herein effectively closed the courtroom on its own motion by conducting part of the jury selection in a locked courthouse. The fact that the courtroom itself was open makes no difference because the locked courthouse effectively barred the public from entering the courtroom. The Court did not consider the *Bone-Club* factors and found only "that the need to conclude the jury selection process this afternoon is an extraordinary circumstance." Supp. RP 240. A *Bone-Club* analysis would have brought other available less restrictive alternatives to light.

In *State v. Duckett*, 141 Wn. App. 797, 173 P.3d 948 (2007), the court of appeals held the trial court must engage in the five-part *Bone-Club* analysis *before* conducting all or a portion of voir dire outside of the public forum of the courtroom. *Duckett*, 141 Wn. App. at 802-03, 173 P.3d 948 (emphasis added). Thus, in the present case the trial court's explanation of "an extraordinary circumstance" cannot substitute for a complete *Bone-Club* analysis done in open court.

The fact that Mr. Arredondo did not object to the closure is of no consequence to the outcome. A defendant cannot waive the public's right

to open proceedings. *Strode*, 167 Wn.2d 222, 217 P.3d at 315. "As we observed in *Bone-Club*, the public also has a right to object to the closure of a courtroom, and the trial court has the independent obligation to perform a *Bone-Club* analysis. The record reveals that the public was not afforded the opportunity to object to the closure, nor was the public's right to an open courtroom given proper consideration." *Id.* (citations omitted).

Finally, the denial of the constitutional right to a public trial is not subject to harmless error analysis. *Strode*, 167 Wn.2d 222, 217 P.3d at 316; *Bone-Club*, 128 Wn.2d at 261-62; *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 8, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999). Since denial of the public trial right is deemed to be a structural error, prejudice is presumed. *Bone-Club*, 128 Wn.2d at 261-62; *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d at 812. The only appropriate remedy is to remand for a new trial. *Brightman*, 155 Wn.2d at 518.

2. The trial court abused its discretion in allowing evidence of other acts contrary to ER 404(b).

ER 404(b) prohibits evidence of other crimes to show that the defendant acted in conformity with that character--had a propensity to commit this crime. But evidence of prior crimes may be admitted for other purposes, "such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation,

plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." ER 404(b). To admit evidence of prior crimes under ER 404(b), the court must (1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the misconduct occurred; (2) identify, as a matter of law, the purpose of the evidence; (3) conclude that the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged; and, finally, (4) balance the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect. *State v. Williams*, 156 Wn.App. 482, 490, 234 P.3d 1174 (2010) (citing *State v. Vy Thang*, 145 Wn.2d 630, 642, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002)). A trial court's decision to admit evidence of a defendant's prior acts will be reversed showing an abuse of the court's discretion. *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995).

Here, there was insufficient proof that Mr. Arredondo committed the prior incident. Despite the prosecutor's assertion to the contrary in his opening statement, there was no evidence presented that Mr. Arredondo was the person who drove the car or fired the weapon in the 2/9/09 driveby shooting. Nor was he ever prosecuted for this alleged offense. The evidence revealed that the alleged victim said the suspect vehicle "appeared to be like a Mercedes-Benz." RP 468. Mr. Arredondo had access to a silver Mercedes-Benz and police found a .38 shell casing in the car. RP 481-82, 486. The casing found at the scene of the 2/9/09 drive-by

shooting and the casing found in the car were fired from the same weapon.

RP 523-24.

But there was no evidence of who drove the car or who fired the shots. There was no evidence that Mr. Arredondo had exclusive access to the Mercedes-Benz. Indeed, someone else or several other persons may have been the perpetrator(s) of this prior incident. Therefore, since there was insufficient evidence that Mr. Arredondo committed the prior misconduct, the Court abused its discretion in allowing that evidence.

A trial court must determine on the record whether the danger of undue prejudice substantially outweighs the probative value of such evidence, in view of the other means of proof and other factors. ER 403; Comment, ER 404(b); *State v. Dennison*, 115 Wn.2d 609, 628, 801 P.2d 193 (1990). When evidence is likely to stimulate an emotional response rather than a rational decision, a danger of unfair prejudice exists. *State v. Rice*, 48 Wn.App. 7, 13, 737 P.2d 726 (1987). "In doubtful cases the scale should be tipped in favor of the defendant and exclusion of the evidence." *State v. Smith*, 106 Wn.2d 772, 776, 725 P.2d 951 (1986)(quoting *State v. Bennett*, 36 Wn.App. 176, 180, 672 P.2d 772 (1983)).

Here, in addition to possibly being untrue and thus irrelevant, the evidence was highly prejudicial because it tended to show Mr. Arredondo was a "criminal type", and thus likely committed the crimes presently charged. Since there was insufficient evidence that Mr. Arredondo committed the prior misconduct, the evidence should have been excluded. The evidence of the other crime only tended to show Mr. Arredondo acted in conformity with the character exhibited in the prior incident and had the propensity to commit the current offenses. This is precisely the type of evidence prohibited by ER 404(b).

Not harmless error. The other key incriminating evidence against Mr. Arredondo in these current offenses was the testimony of Maurice Simon. Simon testified that while he was in jail Arredondo told him he drove the Honda and Rudy Madrigal fired the shots at the SUV on 12/5/09. However, as will be shown below, the trial court improperly denied Arredondo the opportunity to adequately impeach the credibility of Simon's testimony on cross examination. If counsel had been allowed to properly cross-examine Simon thus undermining his credibility, the State's case would have become much weaker and elevated the significance of the ER 404 (b) testimony. Under this scenario, the improper admission of the ER 404(b) testimony was not harmless.

3. <u>Arredondo's Sixth Amendment right of confrontation was</u>

<u>violated when the trial court barred any inquiry into the mental state of the</u>

<u>State's witness, Maurice Simon, during cross-examination.</u>

The Sixth Amendment to the Constitution guarantees the right of an accused in a criminal prosecution 'to be confronted with the witnesses against him.' *Davis v. Alaska*, 415 U.S. 308, 315, 317, 94 S.Ct. 1105, 39 L.Ed.2d 347 (1974)). This right is secured for defendants in state as well as federal criminal proceedings under *Pointer v. Texas*, 380 U.S. 400, 85 S.Ct. 1065, 13 L.Ed.2d 923 (1965). Confrontation means more than being allowed to confront the witness physically. "Our cases construing the [confrontation] clause hold that a primary interest secured by it is the right of cross-examination." *Douglas v. Alabama*, 380 U.S. 415, 418, 85 S.Ct. 1074, 1076, 13 L.Ed.2d 934 (1965). Professor Wigmore stated:

The main and essential purpose of confrontation is to secure for the opponent the opportunity of cross-examination. The opponent demands confrontation, not for the idle purpose of gazing upon the witness, or of being gazed upon by him, but for the purpose of cross-examination, which cannot be had except by the direct and personal putting of questions and obtaining immediate answers.

5 J. Wigmore, Evidence s 1395, p. 123 (3d ed. 1940).

Cross-examination as to a mental state or condition, to impeach a witness, is permissible. *State v. Froehlich*, 96 Wn.2d 301, 306, 635 P.2d

127 (1981) (citing Annot., Cross-Examination of Witness as to His Mental State or Condition, to Impeach Competency or Credibility, 44 A.L.R.3d 1203, 1210 (1972) and cases cited therein). Cross-examination is one of several recognized means of attempting to demonstrate that a witness has erred because of his mental state or condition. *Id.* In addition, in a proper case counsel may produce experimental evidence to indicate a mental infirmity, or he may call an expert witness to testify as to the witness' mental infirmity. Annot., 44 A.L.R.3d at 1208. In each of these methods the purpose is the same, i.e., to impeach the witness and put his credibility in issue by showing his mental condition and how it affects his testimony. *Froehlich*, 96 Wn.2d at 306, 635 P.2d 127 (referencing Juviler, Psychiatric Opinions as to Credibility of Witnesses: A Suggested Approach, 48 Calif.L.Rev. 648, 651-52 (1960)).

Applying these principles to the present case, Arredondo was entitled to cross-examine Simon about his mental condition for the same purpose as discussed in *Froehlich*, i.e. to impeach him and put his credibility in issue by showing his mental condition and how it affects his testimony. Since Simon's testimony about Arredondo's jail confession was a key lynchpin for the State's case, the trial court's ruling barring all

cross-examination into Simon's mental state was not immaterial, irrelevant or harmless error.

Before making its ruling the trial court allowed questioning of Simon about his mental condition outside the presence of the jury. During that questioning Simon revealed a number of mental problems including PTSD, problems with comprehension, concentration and anxiety, depression, distrust of other people, hyper vigilancy, and chronic substance abuse from alcohol and methamphetamine. RP 559-64. By not allowing cross-examination into these various conditions, the Court violated Arredondo's Sixth Amendment right of confrontation.

4. Mr. Arredondo's right to due process under Washington

Constitution, Article 1, § 3 and United States Constitution, Fourteenth

Amendment was violated where the State failed to prove the special

verdict that he committed the crime with intent to directly or indirectly

cause any benefit, aggrandizement, gain, profit, or other advantage to or

for a criminal street gang, its reputation, influence, or membership.

As a part of the due process rights guaranteed under both the Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3 and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment the state must prove every element of a crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Baeza*, 100 Wn.2d 487, 488,

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