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

5. This issue has been raised for the first time on appeal 

and therefore it is not properly before this court, see 

State v. Duncan slip opinion 29916-3-III published 

March 14, 2014.  

 

II.   STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
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The substantive and procedural facts have been adequately set 

forth in appellants brief therefore, pursuant to RAP 10.3(b); the State shall 

not set forth an additional facts section.   The State shall refer specific 

section of the verbatim report of proceeding in the body of this brief.    

III.  ARGUMENT. 

 

RESPONSE TO ALLEGATION ONE  

Appellant did not objected in the trial court nor does he now assign 

error to any of the trial court's written or oral findings of fact nor has he 

challenged any of the conclusions of law.    RP 103-105, CP 111-17.   

Therefore this court will consider the finding verities on appeal. State v. 

Brockob, 159 Wash.2d 311, 343, 150 P.3d 59 (2006) (citing State v. Hill, 

123 Wash.2d 641, 647, 870 P.2d 313 (1994)).  See also Cowiche Canyon 

Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 808, 828 P.2d 549 (1992), 

unchallenged findings of fact are verities on appeal.   Further, this court 

may in addition, even where a trial court's written findings are incomplete 

or inadequate, look to the trial court's oral findings to aid review. State v. 

Robertson, 88 Wash.App. 836, 843, 947 P.2d 765 (1997), review denied, 

135 Wash.2d 1004, 959 P.2d 127 (1998).    This court reviews the trial 

court's conclusions of law de novo. State v. Armenta, 134 Wn.2d 1, 9, 948 

P.2d 1280 (1997).    
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The findings of fact and conclusions of law, which are set out in 

full below, in conjunction with the oral rulings, the testimony and the 

exhibits which were admitted at the remand hearing make it absolutely 

clear that there was no violation of the rights to a public trial under any 

section of the Washington State Constitution.    

This allegation can be laid to rest based on the testimony of one 

officer at the reference hearing.  Lt. Winters stated “...The public can for 

court (sic), the public entrance was open until 5.” (RP Ref. pg. 14)   That 

and that alone clearly dispels this issue.   However the State continued the 

hearing and throughout that hearing it was made crystal clear that there 

had been no impingement on the right of the Appellant nor the public.  

This officer who was in charge of security was the officer who created the 

signs that were posted.  Exhibit L filed with this court is unassailable; it 

clearly reads in very large black font “COURT HOUSE CLOSES AT 4 

PM. AUDITOR @ 3:30 COURT HEARINGS UNTIL 5 PM.”    The 

lieutenant further testified as follows; 

Q    And which signs would have been posted at the public entrance to the  

       courthouse in October of 2011 when the Fabian Arredondo trial was  

       in (inaudible). 

A    Both. 

Q    Alright, and do you recall what the security officer posted at the  

       public entrance before 5:00 or until 5:00. 

A    I’m sorry, could you restate the question? 

Q    Sure.  Was a security officer posted at the public entrance until 5  

       p.m.? 
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A    Yes, we had DOS personnel there until 5 every day, every week day. 

Q    Would the public entrance have remained open until 5 p.m. if a  

       session of trial ran until 5 p.m.? 

A    Yes. 

Q    If a session of trial went later than 4 p.m., would a member of the  

       public who wanted to see the Fabian Arredondo trial have been  

       admitted to the courthouse and directed to a courtroom by a security  

       officer? 

A    Absolutely.  (RP Ref. pg. 16-17)   

 

During questioning defense counsel had a series of questions 

regarding the public’s perception of the sign.  Lt. Winters was questioned 

about whether the sign would stop people from entering even though it 

clearly stated that Court Hearings were open until “5 pm.”  His response 

mirrored that of Sgt. Clifford indicating that “...if somebody were to read 

that whole sign, they would see that the court goes until 5, unless it was 

after 5.  In fact, many times -- usually after 5, people continue to try the 

door and to walk in and ask the DOS (Department of Security) officers 

there.  We get that asked many times.” (RP Ref. pg 18)    The reference 

hearing is replete with testimony which beyond any doubt refutes the 

allegation that the some sort of “de facto” closure of the courthouse 

resulted in an actual closure of the courtroom.   The court inquired about 

the signs on its own; 

THE COURT:  Lieutenant, I have a quick question for you.  

The location of these signs, both the one on the outside of 

the exterior door and then the one on the interior by the 

door, if somebody was reading, particularly the one, if 

somebody was reading the sign that’s on the exterior door, 
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would they also be visible or be able to see the security 

officers? 

A    Yes.  

THE COURT:  So, if somebody had an inquiry or didn’t 

understand -- the door’s unlocked, they could enter and 

ask? 

A    That’s correct. 

 

The holding of the trial court, unchallenged before this court, is 

that not only was the courtroom not closed but also that no one was denied 

access to this courtroom.  This court must note that part of the alleged 

error is based on the fact that Appellate counsel has addressed the times 

where the court allegedly went past 4:00 pm based on time stamps or 

indications of the time in the record which are inaccurate.  The court states 

throughout the reference hearing that the various clocks used in the record 

are not the clocks that the trial court judge used to determine the times in 

the court.  (VRP Ref. pg 2, 45-47, 95, 96-99.   Judge McCarthy stated; 

     Let me start off this part of the analysis, I guess, with the 

JAVS issue.  And as soon as this case came back before me 

and I saw the transcript and I -- it was immediately apparent 

to me what this whole issue rested upon a faulty base of the 

time stamp, if you would, on the JAVS recording.  It has 

been my experience that the JAVS system for whatever 

reason doesn’t have -- is not synced with real time.  It’s off 

by a significant amount of time.  I mean, not an hour but a 

significant amount of time, and in this particular matter, if 

you just look at the Clerk’s minutes and you look at the 

JAVS times that are on the transcript and obviously derived 

from the JAVS recording itself, there’s a discrepancy there.   

     Now, the other discrepancy is is with these clocks that are 

in the courtroom.  The real time -- this clock right here says 

it’s 2:11 p.m., and -- or 2:12 p.m., and it is in fact 2:07, so 
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that’s a five or six -- five minute discrepancy right there.  I 

did go up to Courtroom 2 over the noon hour and tried to see 

-- and did see what their -- the clock in that courtroom says, 

and again, it’s off by four or five minutes.  None of the -- you 

know, other judges have made this observation and I make 

the same myself is that there’s no two clocks in this building 

that agree with each other as to what time it is.  And so I 

always go when I’m timing things, I go off the computer or I 

go off my wristwatch, one or the other, but -- so the times 

that -- and one of the other issues is where is the Clerk 

getting the time as well for the Clerk’s minutes and so is that 

coming off the clock on the wall, is it coming off the 

computer?  I guess we’re not quite sure as to where it’s 

coming from, but it’s, you know, it’s a little bit troubling and 

part of the problem is that we’re basing -- the big part of this 

issue is reflected in minutes, you know. Was it 4:01 or was it 

4:02 or was it 4, you know 

(RP Ref. 97-8) 

  On the one day that the trial actually went past 4:00 pm on the 

clock monitored by the court  the court conducted a “Bone Club” analysis 

even though the courthouse was physically open to the public for trials 

until whatever time the court actually adjourned.  The findings and 

conclusions are as follows; 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1.   The court hereby incorporates by reference the testimony and exhibits 

introduced at the reference hearing, as well as the Court's oral comments 

made at the close of the June 27, 2013, hearing and made at the hearing on 

June 6, 2013. 

2.   On October 3, 2011, a secure entrance became the only means for the 

public to enter and exit the Yakima County courthouse. All members of 

the public had access to the courthouse through this secure entrance, 

which is located on the east side of the courthouse facing North Second 

Street. Entering the courthouse, a member of the public proceeded to 

metal detectors where officers of the Yakima County Department of 
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Security screened members of the public for weapons before allowing 

them access to the courthouse interior. 

3.   On October 10, 2011, the court hearings concluded before 4 p.m. 

because the clock or time listed on the transcript for October 10, 2011 was 

in error because no two clocks in this courthouse have the same time. The 

time stamp on the JAVS recording system, which is reflected in the report 

of proceedings, is not synced to the actual time and is off by a significant 

amount. There is a discrepancy in the clerk's minutes in comparison to the 

JAVS times on the transcript. The courtroom clocks are also ahead by 

about six minutes. The court used the bench computer, which accurately 

reports the time, to keep track of the hour. The court session on October 

10, 2011 was concluded at or before 4 p.m. 

4.   On October 11, 2011, the judge anticipated that court may have to 

conclude after 4 p.m.. Consequently, the judge conducted a Bone Club 

analysis. There was a compelling need or interest in concluding jury 

selection that day, even if it meant going past 4 PM., so as not to delay 

another homicide trial that was scheduled to start the next day. The design 

of this courthouse does not allow for two large jury pools at the same time. 

The space created for the accommodation for the next jury pool would 

preserve the speedy trial rights of the defendant whose jury selection was 

set to commence on October 12.. The court made a public announcement 

about this and there was no objection. The method selected was the least 

restrictive for public access because the court went past 4 pm. for only a 

few minutes. The competing interests were weighed by the court. If the 

public right to trial was curtailed at all, it was just for minutes only and for 

an innocuous part of the trial. This part of the trial was the conclusion of 

jury selection process where the selected jurors, after the peremptory 

challenges had been made, were sworn in while the remaining jurors were 

given instructions with regards to calling in for jury duty that evening .. 

The court finds that the amount of time between the jury being sworn and 

the adjournment was only for a few minutes. On the 11
th
 of October, the 

court was recessed at 4:10 not at 4:17, which is the incorrect time, from 

the JAVS recording noted n the report of proceedings. 

The Court's concern about going past 4 PM related to the policy, then in 

force, that the court would be responsible for any overtime costs incurred 

by the Department of Security. 

5.   In October 10, 2011 and October 11, 2011, the public entrance of the 

Yakima County Courthouse was not closed or locked at 4:00 p.m. because 

a courtroom was still in session in which case security officers kept the 

public entrance open until all courts were no longer in session for that day. 

Yakima County's policy was that the public entrance remained open as 



 8 

long as any courtroom was in session. The courts and security officers 

followed this policy. 

6.   To implement this policy, late in the afternoon every day, security 

officers checked to determine which courtrooms remained in session. 

Security officers used various means to check. They visually checked 

courtrooms. They asked courtroom clerks if courtrooms were still in 

session. From their office or where they were situated, the security officers 

were stationed near the public entrance to see if anyone would 

come in after normal court hearings were over. 

7.   On October 11, 2011, the public entrance of the Yakima County 

Courthouse was open at all times when the Fabian Arredondo trial was in 

session. At no time was the public entrance of the Yakima County 

Courthouse closed while the Fabian Arredondo trial was in session. 

Security officers ensured that the public entrance to the Yakima County 

Courthouse remained open and that all members of the public had access 

to the courtroom while the Fabian Arredondo trial was in session. Even 

though other county offices may have been closed, security officers 

admitted any member of the public who came to the public entrance if he 

or she wanted to attend the Fabian Arredondo trial and directed him or her 

to the courtroom. No member of the public who desired to attend the 

Fabian Arredondo trial was prevented from attending any session. 

8.   A sign was posted· at the public entrance to the Yakima County 

Courthouse during October 2011 when the Fabian Arredondo trial was in 

session. Those signs, admitted as exhibits, advised that the courthouse 

closed at 4:00 p.m. but court closed at 5:00 p.m. As stated in finding of 

fact 5, however, the public entrance of the courthouse always remained 

open if a courtroom was still in session despite the sign. 

9.   No member of the public was deterred by the sign described in finding 

of fact 8 from entering the Yakima County Courthouse and attending any 

session of the Fabian Arredondo trial. In the security officers' experience, 

members of the public always tried the door despite the sign before 

walking away from the public entrance. No member of the public was 

barred from entering the courthouse or attending any session of the 

Fabian Arredondo trial by the sign. For the twenty one months since the 

policy has been implemented, there was accommodation made to anyone 

who came to the door of the courthouse and was allowed in. 

10.   The defendant brought an individual named Crystal Mendoza, who 

testified that she was present, presumably during the first day of jury 

selection . She testified that she was asked by someone who may have 

worked for the court "to step outside." She did not know if the person was 

a male or female. She believed it may have been a judge or the bailiff but 
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she was not sure. During cross-examination, she testified that it was not 

this particular judge who asked her to step outside. This particular judge 

was the same judge who presided over the entire trial. The bailiffs during 

the jury selection process both testified that they would only ask someone 

to step outside if they were disruptive or at the direction of the court. They 

testified that there was no disruption during this phase of the trial nor was 

a directive by the court to excuse someone. They also testified that during 

this phase of the trial, a large number of potential jurors (about 100) were 

brought in and the bailiffs would have made accommodations (extra 

chairs) for the defendant's family or other members of the public who 

wanted to come in and be in the courtroom . The bailiffs testified that 

there was more than enough room for over 100 jurors in that particular 

courtroom. Both bailiffs testified that they did not ask anyone to step 

outside or leave the courtroom during those two days of jury selection. 

They both testified that they would not and did not exclude anyone from 

the open courtroom. Ms. Mendoza's recollection was vague because she 

could not remember when, who or what she was told or the circumstances 

in which this supposedly occur.   The court finds that the bailiffs, or 

anyone else, did not exclude Ms. Mendoza from the courtroom. 

 

Based on these findings of fact, the court enters the following: 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1.   The court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter 

herein. 

2.   Fabian Arredondo's right to a public trial under article I, section 22 of 

the Washington State Constitution and the Sixth Amendment to the United 

States Constitution was not violated. 

3.   The public's right to open administration of justice under Article I, 

section 10 of the Washington State Constitution was not violated. The 

public's right to an open trial under the First Amendment to the United 

States Constitution was not violated. 

 

It is clear that the recent decisions that have held that any claimed 

courtroom closure may be raised on appeal, even if there was no objection 

below, are based on a case superseded by RAP 2.5(a)(3) and are incorrect 

and harmful.  This Court should not continue this course and it should 
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apply RAP 2.5(a)(3) to public trial claims as it has with most other claims 

of this nature raised for the first time on appeal.   

 Generally an appellate court will consider a constitutional claim 

for the first time on appeal only if the alleged error is truly constitutional, 

and manifest.  State v. Davis, 41 Wn.2d 535, 250 P.2d 548 (1952); RAP

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